1997

# Judy Snell, Leroy Snell v. Salt Lake County, Utah County, Utah Department of Transportation, City of Draper, Utah, City of Lehi, Utah : Brief of Appellant

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2(a)-3(3)(j) (1996).

### **ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in ruling that Draper did not owe a duty to Snell to maintain traffic control devices in a safe condition conducive to the safe flow of traffic where the undisputed facts demonstrate that Draper had posted a 40 mile per hour speed limit sign on the west side of the Frontage Road to control southbound traffic but failed to post any speed limit signs or other traffic control devices on the east side of the road to similarly control northbound traffic, thereby creating an inherently dangerous and defective traffic control condition which Snell alleges was a proximate cause of the accident.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Because summary judgment only involves issues of law, this Court should review the trial court's conclusions for correctness. County Oaks Condominium Management v. Jones, 851 P.2d 640 (Utah 1993); St. Benedicts Development v. St. Benedicts Hospital, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991). Additionally, "[o]n an appeal from summary judgment, we consider only two questions: whether the lower court erred in (1) applying the governing law and (2) holding that no material facts were in dispute." Nelson by and through Stuckman v. Salt Lake City, 919 P.2d 568, 571 (Utah 1996) (citation omitted). "Furthermore, because negligence cases often require the drawing of inferences from the facts, which is properly

done by juries rather than judges summary judgment is appropriate in negligence case only in the clearest instances” Id. (quoting Dwiggins v. Morgan Jewelers, 811 P.2d 182, 183 (Utah 1991)).

### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Annotated § 63-30-1, § 63-30-4(1)(b), 63-30-8 and 63-30-10 (1993). Referenced sections are included at Tab 1 of the Appendix.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 13, 1993, Kenneth Reed Snell was seriously and permanently injured in an automobile and truck collision on a road under Draper City’s control. The collision occurred on the east Frontage Road that parallels Interstate 15, at Point of the Mountain, Utah. Draper City had posted a 40 mile per hour speed limit sign regulating the flow of southbound traffic on the frontage road but had failed to post any speed limit signs similarly regulating the flow of northbound traffic on said road. The trial court granted Draper City’s motion for summary judgment and ruled that Draper owed no duty to Kenneth Reed Snell to post similar traffic control devices for northbound traffic. This appeal is taken from the trial court’s Order Granting City of Draper’s Motion for Summary Judgment. Specifically, the trial court concluded that: (1) Draper had no duty to regulate northbound traffic notwithstanding that Draper had undertaken to regulate southbound traffic; and (2) that the

public duty doctrine barred Snell's claims. [Order Granting City of Draper's Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Order") at 3-5, a copy of which is attached hereto at Tab 2 of the Appendix.]

### **STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS**

The trial court found the following facts to be undisputed and material to its determination of the duty issue.

1. Plaintiffs are the guardians and conservators of the estate of Kenneth Read Snell, who was seriously injured in an automobile collision in Draper, Utah, on October 13, 1993. [Order at 2.]

2. The collision occurred on the east frontage road that parallels Interstate 15, where it intersects with a private road leading to a sand and gravel facility. [Order at 2.]

3. Mr. Snell was returning from the Lehi Animal Shelter, where he had picked up a load of animals to return to the University of Utah, where he was employed. [Order at 2.]

4. Mr. Snell was traveling northbound on the frontage road when the University of Utah van he was driving collided with a southbound large truck used to haul sand and gravel owned by Cazier Excavation. Darrell Casey, the driver of the Cazier truck, was

proceeding southbound and turning left across the northbound lane onto the private dirt road which was owned and maintained by Geneva Rock. [Order at 2.]

5. Draper City was responsible for the maintenance of the frontage road in question but not of the private road which intersected with it. [Order at 2.]

6. The place of the accident was approximately one mile north of the south Draper City boundary. [Order at 2.]

7. Prior to the accident, Draper had posted a 40 mile per hour speed limit sign on the west side of the frontage road which regulated the speed of southbound traffic that governed the operation of the Cazier truck. Draper City had not placed any speed limit signs, or signs warning of the intersection on the east side of the frontage road regulating the operation of the Snell vehicle. [Order at 3.]

There is evidence that Kenneth Reed Snell will require 24-hour-per-day care and supervision for the balance of his natural life as a result of the injuries he suffered in this accident. There is also evidence that if Draper had regulated northbound traffic in a similar fashion to its regulation of the southbound traffic (40 miles per hour), and if Snell's vehicle had been traveling at 40 miles per hour, the accident would not have occurred, (R.12) that Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant City of Draper's First Set of Interrogatories, Response

to Interrogatory No. 27. In light of the trial court's ruling on the duty issue, it did not reach these facts.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in holding that Draper did not owe Snell a duty of reasonable care because the undisputed facts demonstrate that Draper affirmatively undertook to control the flow of traffic on the east frontage road where the collision occurred. Plaintiffs allege that Draper was negligent in the manner it chose to control such traffic. Utah courts and the majority of other jurisdictions have long recognized that municipalities have a nondelegable duty to exercise reasonable care in their regulation and maintenance of streets within the municipalities' control.

Notwithstanding this well-established precedence, the trial court held that Draper owed Snell no duty because: (1) Draper's regulation of southbound traffic did not impose a duty on Draper to regulate northbound traffic in a similar fashion; and (2) the public duty doctrine barred Snell's claim. Order at 3-5. More specifically, the trial court held that Draper's duty was a duty to all and that a duty to all is a duty to none absent a showing of a special relationship, which individual relationship the court found to be lacking. Id.

The trial court misinterpreted and misapplied Utah precedent. Accordingly, Section I of this Argument explains why Draper owed Snell a duty once it undertook to control the



safe flow of traffic on the frontage road. It further explains how the public duty doctrine may be reconciled with the courts' pronouncements holding that municipalities owe a duty of reasonable care in their regulation and maintenance of streets under their control. Alternatively, Section II argues that the public duty doctrine should be abrogated in total or at least in dangerous road condition cases in light of legislative mandates.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I.**

#### **Draper Owed Snell a Duty to Exercise Reasonable Care Because Draper Affirmatively Undertook to Regulate and Control the Flow of Traffic When It Installed a 40 Mile An Hour Speed Limit Sign Governing Southbound Traffic.**

Utah has developed well-established precedent holding that governmental entities have a nondelegable duty to exercise reasonable care in their regulation and maintenance of streets and roadways within their control. See, e.g., Keegan v. State, 896 P.2d 618 (Utah 1995); Braithwaite v. West Valley City Corp., 860 P.2d 336 (Utah 1993); Duncan v. Union Pacific R. Co., 842 P.2d 832 (Utah 1992); Trapp v. Salt Lake City Corp., 835 P.2d 161 (Utah 1992); Jerz v. Salt Lake County, 822 P.2d 770 (Utah 1991); Ingram v. Salt Lake City, 733 P.2d 126 (Utah 1987); Richards v. Leavitt, 716 P.2d 276 (Utah 1985); Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982); Bigelow v. Ingersoll, 618 P.2d 50 (Utah 1980); Murray v. Ogden City, 548 P.2d 896 (Utah 1976); Carroll v. State Road Comm'n, 496 P.2d 888; Stevens v. Salt Lake County, 478 P.2d 496 (Utah 1970); Velasquez v. Union Pacific R. Co.,

469 P.2d 5 (Utah 1970); Bramel v. State Road Comm’n, 465 P.2d 534 (Utah 1970); Nyman v. Cedar City, 361 P.2d 1114 (Utah 1961); Rollow v. Ogden City, 66 Utah 475, 243 P. 791 (1926); Pollari v. Salt Lake City, 176 P.2d 111 (Utah 1947); Berger v. Salt Lake City, 56 Utah 403, 191 P. 233 (1920); Shugren v. Salt Lake City, 48 Utah 320, 159 P. 530 (1916); Sweet v. Salt Lake City, 43 Utah 306, 134 P. 1167 (1913); Robinson v. Salt Lake City, 40 Utah 497, 121 P. 968 (1912); Bills v. Salt Lake City, 37 Utah 507, 109 P. 745 (1910); Morris v. Salt Lake City, 35 Utah 474, 101 P. 373 (1909); Jones v. Ogden City, 32 Utah 221, 89 P. 1006 (1907); Scott v. Provo City, 14 Utah 31, 45 P. 1005 (1895); De Villiers v. Utah County, 882 P.2d 1161 (Utah App. 1994); Jones v. Bountiful City Corp., 834 P.2d 556 (Utah App. 1992); Duncan v. Union Pacific R. Co., 790 P.2d 595 (Utah App. 1990)

For example, the Utah Supreme Court stated that a city has a nondelegable duty to maintain its traffic control devices in a condition conducive to the safe flow of traffic. Richards, 716 P.2d at 277-79. The court held that a claim against a city for negligent maintenance of a stop sign is subject to the notice of claim requirements in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Id. at 277-79. The court expressly adopted 18 Eugene McQuillin, *The Law of Municipal Corporations* § 53.42 (3d ed. 1984) (hereinafter “McQuillin”), as a valid statement of the city’s duty. Id. at 278-79. The court reasoned that “the rule is that once having elected to erect devices to guide, direct or illuminate traffic

where no duty exists to do so, a municipality then has a duty to maintain those devices in a condition conducive to the safe flow of traffic and will be liable for its negligence in failing to do so.” Id. at 278 (quoting 18 McQuillin § 53.42).

Further, in Bowen v. Riverton City, the court held that Riverton had a nondelegable duty to maintain its traffic control devices making summary judgment inappropriate where the city knew a stop sign was laying down for approximately eighteen minutes before an accident occurred at an intersection regulated by that stop sign. Bowen, 656 P.2d at 435-37.

The court stated Utah’s oft pronounced rule that:

The city has a nondelegable duty to exercise due care in maintaining streets within its corporate boundaries in a reasonably safe condition for travel and the city may be held liable for injuries proximately resulting from its failure to do so. In fulfilling this duty, it is necessary for cities to maintain traffic control signals in a reasonably safe, visible, and working condition. Whether the city fulfilled its duty to maintain the city streets in a safe condition in the instant case is a question of fact to be determined by the jury.

Id. at 437 (citations omitted).

The legislature has also implicitly recognized that governmental entities owe a duty of reasonable care in regulating and maintaining the safe flow of traffic. Specifically, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-8 provides that “immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for any injury caused by the defective, unsafe, or dangerous condition of any

highway, road, [or] street.” (Of course this waiver of immunity is qualified by the exception for discretionary or policy acts; see Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10.) Any waiver of immunity by the legislature would be rendered meaningless if governmental entities did not owe a duty in the first place. That governmental entities owe a duty of reasonable care in regulating and maintaining the safe flow of traffic seems obvious.

Indeed, as was recognized by this Court in Jones v. Bountiful City, “decisions in a majority of the states affirm implied liability to private action for injuries resulting from defective public ways.” Bountiful City, 834 P.2d at 560 (quoting 19 McQuillin § 54.02 (3d ed. 1985)). In Bountiful City, this Court held that Bountiful did not have a duty to install traffic control devices to regulate an unsigned intersection and that it did not have a duty to remove foliage on private property. Id. This Court reasoned that while a municipality is not generally affirmatively required to erect traffic control devices, “once the municipality takes action to install such devices, it must do so in a non-negligent manner.” Id. (citing 19 McQuillin § 54.28b (3d ed. 1985))(emphasis added). McQuillin explains that “though a city is not generally liable for failure to install signs or signals, if it undertakes to do so and invites public reliance on such signs or signals, it may be held liable for creating a dangerous condition, or nuisance.” 19 McQuillin § 54.28.10 (3d ed. 1994).

Notwithstanding this well-established precedent, the trial court held that Draper did not owe Snell a duty because any duty Draper had was a duty to the public at large and not to Snell as an individual. [Order at 4-5; (R. 19-20).] The court relied expressly on the public duty doctrine in holding that Snell's claims were barred. Order at 4-5. Unfortunately, the trial court misconstrued and misapplied the so-called public duty doctrine.

At the core of the public duty doctrine is the notion that the law will only impose affirmative duties to act when a special relationship exists and absent a special relationship there is no duty. See, e.g., Rollins v. Petersen, 813 P.2d 1156 (Utah 1991) (failure to control mental health patient); Ferree v. State, 784 P.2d 149 (Utah 1989); Beach v. University of Utah, 726 P.2d 413 (Utah 1986) (failure to control student); Pease v. Industrial Comm'n, 694 P.2d 613 (Utah 1984) (failure to arrest allegedly drunken motorist); Obray v. Malmberg, 484 P.2d 160 (Utah 1971) (failure to investigate burglary); Cannon v. University of Utah, 866 P.2d 586 (Utah App. 1993) (failure to affirmatively assist pedestrians); Lamarr v. Utah Dep't of Transp., 828 P.2d 535 (Utah App. 1992) (failure to construct additional walkways or control transients).

In Beach the court held that the University of Utah had no duty to control a student on a field trip who wandered off from camp unnoticed and apparently fell off a cliff while intoxicated. Beach, 726 P.2d at 414-17. The court reasoned that only in "unusual

circumstances” would the court impose an “affirmative duty to care for another.” Id. at 415.

Further, the court stated that:

The law imposes upon one party an affirmative duty to act only when certain special relationships exist between the parties. These relationships generally arise when one assumes responsibilities for another’s safety or deprives another of his or her normal opportunities for self-protection.

Id. (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314(A) (1964)). The court found that no “special relationship” existed. Beach, 726 P.2d at 416-17.

Likewise, in Ferree the court held that the State had no duty to affirmatively prevent a previously nonviolent inmate from killing a private citizen while the inmate was released into the temporary custody of his mother to attend a wedding. Ferree, 784 P.2d at 150-52. The court reasoned that “[d]uty is ‘a question of whether the defendant is under any obligation for the benefit of a particular plaintiff.’” Id. at 151 (quoting Prosser & Keeton on the Law of Torts § 53 (W. Page Keeton, 5th ed. 1984)). The court contrasted this situation with situations where a governmental entity had assumed a specific duty of care or where the governmental entity had reason to appreciate that an inmate had demonstrated a capacity for violence. Ferree, 784 P.2d at 150-52. In finding that the State owed no duty of care, the court expressly reasoned that the State had no reason to know that the inmate was violent. Id.

Finally, in Rollins, the court held that Utah State Hospital had no affirmative duty to prevent an AWOL mental health patient from subsequently stealing a vehicle and colliding with a private citizen. Rollins, 813 P.2d at 1158-62. The court stated “[w]e acknowledge the general application in Utah of the ‘special relation’ analysis described in sections 314 through 320 of the Restatement of Torts.” Id. at 1159 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 314-20 (1965)). The court, after reviewing its previous decisions, employed a “pragmatic approach.” Id. at 1160-62. The court reasoned that “[d]etermining whether one party has an affirmative duty to protect another ... requires a careful consideration of the consequences for the parties and society at large.” Id. at 1160 (quoting Beach, 726 P.2d at 418). Ultimately, the court concluded that the plaintiff had failed to establish a special relationship distinguishable to the hospital that would justify imposing on the hospital an affirmative duty to protect the plaintiff. Rollins, 813 P.2d at 1162.

Here, the trial court erred in using the public duty doctrine as a shield to Draper’s negligent regulation of traffic on the frontage road where Draper affirmatively acted in erecting a speed limit sign for only one direction of traffic on the same road. The public duty doctrine governs situations where the question is whether or not to impose an affirmative duty to act (or protect) for the benefit of a particular plaintiff. It does not govern situations where the governmental entity has affirmatively undertaken the duty.

To be certain, there is language in the various court pronouncements on the public duty doctrine that would lend credence to Justice Durham's comment that "a duty to all is a duty to none." Rollins, 813 P.2d at 1165 (Durham, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part; arguing for the abrogation of the public duty doctrine). But any such characterization of the public duty doctrine fails to appreciate the context in which these statements were made and, that at its core, the tort principle in question is whether to impose an affirmative duty to act. As has been acknowledged by legal commentators, there is a fundamental distinction between misfeasance and nonfeasance.

For example, in W. Page Keeton, et al., *Prosser and Keaton on the Law of Torts* § 56 (5th ed. 1984), the authors explain:

Liability for nonfeasance was therefore slow to receive recognition in the law. It first appears in the case of those engaged in 'public' callings, who, by holding themselves out to the public, were regarded as having undertaken a duty to give service, for the breach of which they were liable. With the development of the action of assumpsit, this principle was extended to anyone who, for a consideration, has undertaken to perform a promise—or what we now call a contract. During the last century, liability for 'nonfeasance' has been extended still further to a limited group of relations, in which custom, public sentiment and views of social policy have led the courts to find a duty of affirmative action. In such relationships the plaintiff is typically in some respect particularly vulnerable and dependent upon the defendant who, correspondingly, holds considerable power over the plaintiff's welfare... Liability for 'misfeasance,' then, may extend to any person to whom harm



may reasonably be anticipated as a result of the defendant's conduct, or perhaps even beyond; while for 'nonfeasance' it is necessary to find some definite relation between the parties, of such character that social policy justifies the imposition of a duty to act.

(Emphasis added.)

Further, the commentators of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, in explaining why the general rule is that a person does not have an affirmative duty to act even when that person's action is necessary for another's aid, state:

a. The general rule stated in this Section should be read together with the other sections which follow. Special relations may exist between the actor and the other, as stated in § 314A, which impose upon the actor the duty to take affirmative precautions for the aid or protection of the other. The actor may have control of a third person, or of land or chattels, and be under a duty to exercise such control, as stated in §§ 316-20. The actor's prior conduct, whether tortious or innocent, may have created a situation of peril to the other, as result of which the actor is under a duty to act to prevent the harm, as stated in §§ 321 and 322. The actor may have committed himself to the performance of an undertaking, gratuitously or under contract, and so may have assumed a duty of reasonable care for the protection of the other, or even a third person, as stated in §§ 323, 324, 324A.

...

c. ... The origin of the rule lay in the early common law distinction between action and inaction, or 'misfeasance' and 'nonfeasance.' In the early law one who injured another by a positive affirmative act was held liable without any great regard

even for his fault.... Hence liability for nonfeasance was slow to receive any recognition in the law. It appeared first in, and is still largely confined to, situations in which there was some special relation between the parties, on the basis of which the defendant was found to have a duty to take action for the aid or protection of the plaintiff.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314 (1965).

Thus, once Draper undertook to regulate the flow of traffic on the frontage road, the analysis of its duty shifted from nonfeasance to misfeasance. The misfeasance analysis is set forth in Section 323 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. Under that section, once an entity undertakes to perform a service, that entity has a duty to do so in a nonnegligent fashion. This analysis is implicit in all of the Utah decisions dealing with the defective or unsafe condition in roads and ways. If not, the public duty doctrine would bar all road defect cases because governmental entities do not construct, regulate, or maintain roads and ways for individuals, they do it for the public at large and it would be a fiction to pretend otherwise. Notwithstanding the fact that the frontage road was regulated by Draper for the public at large, Draper, once having chosen to so regulate the flow of traffic, owed a duty to regulate traffic “in a condition conducive to the safe flow of traffic and will be liable for its negligence in failing to do so.” Richards, 716 P.2d at 278 (quoting 18 McQuillin § 53.42); see also, Bountiful City, 834 P.2d at 559-60.

This method of analysis found explicit acceptance in the recent Utah Supreme Court case of Nelson by and through Stuckman v. Salt Lake City, 919 P.2d 568, 572-76 (Utah 1996). In Nelson, the court held that the city (or alternatively, the state) owed a duty of reasonable care to protect the plaintiff from the dangers of the Jordan River once it (the city) decided to erect a fence between a park and the river. Id. The court expressly rejected application of the public duty doctrine because the city had undertaken to provide protection. Id. The court reasoned:

The common law recognizes a duty of due care on the part of an individual or entity that undertakes, whether gratuitously or for consideration, to perform a duty. Breach of that duty may result in an actionable tort. The Restatement of Torts describes this duty as follows:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other's person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking, if

(a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or

(b) the harm is suffered because of the other's reliance upon the undertaking.

Id. at 573 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 (1977)). The court also reasoned that “[w]here one undertakes an act which he has no duty to perform and another reasonably

relies upon the undertaking, the act must generally be performed with ordinary or reasonable care.” Nelson, 919 P.2d at 573 (quoting Am. Jur. 2d Negligence § 208 (1989) and citing DCR Inc. v. Peak Alarm Co., 663 P.2d 433, 436 (Utah 1983)); see also Weber, by and through Weber v. Springville, 725 P.2d 1360, 1364 (Utah 1986).

Thus the court concluded that “once an entity undertakes to provide the protection, it is obligated to use reasonable care in providing it.” Nelson, 919 P.2d at 573. Since the city had erected a fence, the court found it had assumed the duty to protect the plaintiff in a nonnegligent fashion. Id. at 572-74. (The court also found that discretionary immunity did not protect the municipality’s negligent performance of its duty. Id. at 574-76.)

Similarly, Draper owed Snell a duty to regulate the safe flow of traffic on the frontage road consistently from both directions of travel once it undertook to regulate southbound traffic with a 40 mile per hour speed limit sign. Draper argued, and the trial court accepted, that Draper’s regulation of the flow of southbound traffic did not impose a duty upon Draper to regulate northbound traffic. (R. 4-20); Order at 4. This conclusion is erroneous for several reasons.

First, as discussed above, it ignores Utah precedent which imposes a duty to regulate traffic in a condition conducive to the safe flow of traffic, and that breach of that duty will result in liability; particularly where the regulation contributes to or creates a hazardous

traffic condition. That Draper undertook this duty should be obvious given that it chose to regulate southbound traffic.

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