1997

Judy Snell, Leroy Snell v. Salt Lake County, Utah County, Utah Department of Transportation, City of Draper, Utah, City of Lehi, Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On October 13, 1993 Kenneth Snell was returning from a Lehi animal shelter, where he had picked up a load of animals to take to the University of Utah. While traveling northbound on the frontage road to Interstate 15, he collided with a truck owned by Cazier Excavation, as it was turning eastbound from its southern route onto the dirt road accessing Geneva Rock's sand and gravel yard. Appellants' sole argument on appeal is that Draper City had a duty to place a 40 mph speed limit sign somewhere on the one mile stretch of road from its southern-most boundary to the intersection with the private road.

Summary judgment was properly granted by the trial court on the grounds that Draper City owed no legal duty to Kenneth Snell to erect such a speed limit sign. While a governmental entity has a non-delegable duty to maintain streets within its boundaries, it has no duty to erect speed limit signs in the first instance. Additionally, any duty Draper City owed to erect speed limit signs is a duty that runs only to the public at large. Because there exists no special relationship between Draper City and Kenneth Snell, there is no individual, legal duty upon which appellants could base a negligence claim. Finally, even if appellants could establish a legal duty, Draper City would be immune from suit because it did not have control over both the roads upon which the allegedly dangerous condition existed.

ARGUMENT

I.

DRAPER CITY HAD NO DUTY TO ERECT A TRAFFIC SIGN CONTROLLING SPEED OR WARNING OF AN INTERSECTION WITH A PRIVATE ROAD

Appellants agree that under Utah law a municipality has "no common law duty to place a sign . . . warning motorists of [an] approaching intersection." *De Villiers v. Utah County*, 882 P.2d 1161, 1167 (Utah App. 1994); see also, *Jones v. Bountiful City Corp.*, 834 P.2d 556, 560 (Utah App. 1992).¹ In *De Villiers*, plaintiff alleged that a subdivision road had been built by a private developer and placed at a location that made it difficult for motorists traveling the county road to see. No signs had been posted on the county road advising drivers of the allegedly dangerous intersection. The Court in *De Villiers* held that, even assuming the intersection posed an unreasonable risk of danger, Utah County had no duty to erect warning signs:

Even if the placement of Oakview Drive created a dangerous condition on 6000 West, Utah County still has no duty to erect warning signs, even though it has a duty to maintain that road in a condition reasonably safe for travel. See *Jones*, 834 P.2d at 560. Thus, Utah County had no common law duty to place a sign at 6000 West warning motorists of the approaching intersection.

De Villiers, 882 P.2d at 1167. The parallel between the allegations in *De Villiers* and this case is obvious.

Also analogous are the facts in *Jones v. Bountiful City Corp.*, *supra*, in which the plaintiff claimed, *inter alia*, that he was injured in an intersection collision because Bountiful City

¹See page 9 of Appellants' Brief.

failed to place signs at the intersection despite its knowledge of prior accidents. In discussing the duty issue, the Utah Court of Appeals recognized that the duty of a municipality to exercise due care in maintaining streets within its corporate boundaries "is limited in that 'a city is not generally liable for failure to install signs or signals.'" *Jones*, 834 P.2d at 560, citing 19 *Eugene McQuillin, The Law of Municipal Corporations* § 54.02, at 12 (3d ed. 1985). The *Jones* court went on to state "rather than placing a duty on a municipality to erect traffic control devices, the common law requires only that once the municipality takes action to install such devices, it must do so in a non-negligent manner." Thus, the Court held that Bountiful City had "no common law duty to control the intersection with traffic signs, even if Bountiful was on notice that . . . foliage obstructed a clear view of the intersection." *Jones*, 834 P.2d at 560.

While acknowledging this rule, appellants argue for an exception that would swallow it. They argue that because Draper City placed a speed limit sign at one spot on the roadway, it must answer to Mr. Snell for not placing a similar sign elsewhere on the roadway. The duty to erect a speed limit sign, appellants argue, is part of its general duty to "regulate the flow of traffic" undertaken by having placed a speed limit sign elsewhere. Semantics cannot cloak the true nature of appellants' argument -- that Draper City should have placed a speed limit sign on the east side of the frontage road and south of the

intersection with the private dirt road in question in order to warn Mr. Snell of the impending intersection. Indeed, this is the duty the Court would have to legally impose on Draper City in order for appellants to be able to proceed with their negligence claim.

There is simply no Utah precedent to support appellants' tortured argument. The only supporting cases cited by appellants are *Bowan v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982) and *Richards v. Leavitt*, 716 P.2d 276 (Utah 1985), both of which involved previously erected stop signs that had been knocked down and claims that the governmental entities were negligent in failing to replace them in a timely manner. Obviously, these cases are distinguishable from this case, in which appellants argue that Draper City should have erected a speed limit sign in the first instance.

II.

EVEN IF DRAPER CITY HAD A DUTY TO INSTALL A SPEED LIMIT SIGN IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, IT IS A DUTY TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC, NOT A DUTY OWED INDIVIDUALLY TO KENNETH SNELL

Recent cases from Utah appellate courts reiterate the rule that a governmental entity has no duty to a member of the general public who suffers injury as a result of the entity's alleged failure to control the conduct of others, unless the injured person can show a relationship special enough to establish an individual duty. *Ledfors v. Emery County School District*, 849 P.2d 1162 (Utah 1993); *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993); *Lamarr v. Utah State Department of Transportation*,

828 P.2d 535 (Utah App. 1992); *Cannon v. University of Utah*, 866 P.2d 586 (Utah App. 1993). The essence of the public duty doctrine is that "a duty to all is a duty to none". *Rollins v. Peterson*, 813 P.2d 1156, 1165 (Utah 1991). Unless a plaintiff is owed an individual duty by a governmental entity apart from its duty to the general public, there is no legal duty upon which the plaintiff may base a negligence claim. *Madsen v. Borthick*, 850 P.2d 442, 445 (Utah 1993); *Lamarr*, 828 P.2d at 539.

The cases of *Lamarr* and *Cannon* demonstrate the applicability of the "public duty doctrine" to the activity of traffic control. In *Lamarr*, a pedestrian who was struck while walking across an overpass brought action against Salt Lake City and the Utah Department of Transportation alleging that Salt Lake City owed him a duty to maintain a sidewalk on the overpass or to place signs that would have prevented him from walking on the roadway and/or that the City had a duty to control the transient population beneath the overpass so that he was not forced to use the allegedly dangerous overpass. The Utah Court of Appeals held that these allegations failed to allege a duty upon which a negligence claim could be based. This Court found that *Lamarr* had failed to establish that the City had any reason to distinguish him from the general public. There was no allegation nor evidence that the City had any knowledge whatsoever of *Lamarr's* trip across the overpass. Similarly, in this case, there is no allegation that Draper City had some special

relationship with Mr. Snell or knowledge of Mr. Snell's activities which would give rise to an individual duty.

In *Cannon*, plaintiffs had parked at a University of Utah parking lot and were proceeding to the Huntsman Center to a University of Utah basketball game. While walking north across South Campus Drive (a State-owned road, maintained by the Utah State Department of Transportation), plaintiffs were struck in a crosswalk. Two University police officers had been assigned to the crosswalk. Summary judgment was granted to the University of Utah under the public duty doctrine and the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed, rejecting plaintiffs' argument that they were a distinguishable sub-group of "pedestrians" narrower than the "general public". This Court reasoned that the duty of the police officers was to ensure the safety of pedestrian travel to the entire public, not just those pedestrians on their way to the basketball game.

In their Brief, Snells argue that it does not apply to this case because "the public duty doctrine governs situations where the question is whether or not to impose an affirmative duty to act (or protect) for the benefit of a particular plaintiff. It does not govern situations where the governmental entity has affirmatively undertaken the duty." Appellants' Brief, p. 12. This interpretation is not justified by current case law and it is not surprising that appellants cite no legal authority for their proposition. By contrast, *De Villiers* speaks to the identical issue presented in this case and holds that there is no

duty by a governmental entity to erect a sign warning of an intersection.²

Although Snells decline to discuss *De Villiers* anywhere in their Brief on appeal, they apparently would argue that their case is different, because their case involves a "speed limit" sign as distinguished from a sign warning of an impending intersection. Any such distinction, however, is one without a difference in the context of this case. Logically, the only reason for appellants to argue that a speed limit sign should have been placed on the east side of the frontage road and south of the intersection in question would be to reduce the speed of travelers in light of the impending intersection. Thus, in order for it to mean anything, Snells are forced to argue that the speed limit sign was necessary because of the intersection. Placement of a speed limit sign on the east side of the frontage road but north of the intersection would have been irrelevant to Mr. Snell on the day of the accident. Obviously, Snells' argument in this case is no different than the arguments presented and rejected in *De Villiers* and *Jones*.

Finally, appellants argue that this Court should now abrogate the public duty doctrine and hold that it does not apply to duties related to traffic regulation. This Court has recently and frequently had opportunity to examine the public duty doctrine in the context of traffic regulation. See, e.g. *Cannon v. University of Utah*, *supra*; *Lamarr v. Utah State Department of*

²See discussion of *De Villiers* herein, at page 3.

Transportation, supra. The policy behind the public duty doctrine is sound. To abandon it would subject every governmental entity to potential liability and require it to defend every case where a plaintiff or co-defendant argued that placement of a sign would have prevented third parties from driving negligently.

III.

DRAPER CITY IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT ALLEGING NEGLIGENT SIGNAGE AT THE INTERSECTION OF A PUBLIC ROAD WITH A PRIVATE ROAD

The trial court appropriately considered the legal duty issue prior to reaching the issue of governmental immunity proposed by Draper City as an additional grounds for summary judgment. As this Court and the Utah Supreme Court have repeatedly pointed out, the appropriate analysis is to first look at the question of duty. If no common law duty exists, there is no need to reach a governmental immunity issue. Even so, Utah law is clear that immunity would exist in this case, even if legal duty could be established.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-8 waives governmental immunity for any injury caused by "defective, unsafe or dangerous condition of any highway. . . ." In *De Villiers*, the Utah Court of Appeals specifically held that the waiver of governmental immunity for unsafe conditions of a highway does not apply unless the governmental entity has control over the roads or highways upon which the dangerous condition exists. *De Villiers*, 882 P.2d at 1165. In *De Villiers*, as in this case, one of the streets in

question was privately owned. Thus, the waiver of immunity provision does not apply to the circumstances of this case.